2015

**Val Copper and Richard Cooper, Plaintiffs/Appellees, vs. Nate Dressel and Jen Dressel, Defendants/Appellants : Brief of Appellants**

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(h) & (j) (Lexis Nexus Vol. 9 2012).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the District Court err granting jurisdiction by finding Appellants were properly served the Summons and Complaint? Rulings regarding the refusal to set aside a default judgment for lack of jurisdiction or whether a person has been properly served are reviewed as a question of law. *Jackson Constr. Co. v. Marrs*, 2004 UT 89, ¶ 8, 100 P.3d 1211; *see also Reed v. Reed*, 806 P.2d 1182, 1184 n. 3 (Utah 1991).

2. Did the District Court err by denying Appellant's Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment based upon Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1)? Rulings pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Helgesen v. Inyangumia*, 636 P.2d 1079, 1081 (Utah 1981); *see also Ostler v. Buhler*, 957 P.2d 205, 206 (Utah 1984); and *Larson v. Collina*, 684 P.2d 52, 54 (Utah 1984).

Each of these issues were preserved in the District Court by motions, briefs and by oral arguments before the District Court.

## **STATEMENT OF CONTROLLING STATUTE OR RULE**

### **Rules**

Utah R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A), Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1), and Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(4).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Nature of the case**

The Court is being asked to reverse the District Court's Order denying the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment. The basis for Appellant's request is predicated upon Utah R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A), 60(b)(1), and 60(b)(4).

Appellants entered into a lease agreement with Appellees to lease a residence. R. at 9. During the course of the lease agreement, Appellants sold the property, which was being leased, to a third party. R. at 85. Appellants entered into an agreement with the third party that purchased the property and moved from the residence prior to the expiration of the lease agreement. R. at 3, ¶ 13; 89-90. Despite the sale of the property to a third party, Appellees filed a Complaint in District Court seeking to recover for unpaid rents for the remaining duration of the lease and for damages to the residence, including personal property. R. at 1. Appellees served the Summons and Complaint upon Appellant Jen Dressel's mother, Peggy McKenzie, at the residence of Peggy McKenzie. R. at 21, 24. Appellants did not live at Peggy McKenzie's residence at the time of service, nor had they lived at such residence as a married couple, and were living in their motorhome in California. R. 91-92, ¶¶ 2-5; 94-95, ¶¶ 2-5; 97-98, ¶¶ 3-5; 136, ¶ 2. Appellants did not know of the Complaint prior the entering of the Default Judgment and did not file an answer to the Complaint. *Ibid.* The District Court granted a Default Judgment, which included an amount for damages to real and personal property, although the District Court did not conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine the amounts for the unliquidated damages, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2). R. at 47-48.

Appellants received notice, through the mail, of the Default Judgment and timely caused to be filed a Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). R. 91-92, ¶¶ 2- 5; 94-95, ¶¶ 2- 5; 97-98, ¶¶ 3- 5; 70-71. After review of the briefs and conducting oral arguments on the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment, the District Court denied vacating the Default Judgment. R. at 170-172.

Appellants' appeal seeks to reverse the District Court's decision denying the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment.

### **Course Proceedings and Disposition of the District Court**

On November 13, 2014, the District Court granted a Default Judgment in favor of Appellees. R. at 47-48. On December 23, 2014, Appellants filed a Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment. R. at 70-71. On March 24, 2015, the District Court ruled to deny the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment at the hearing on the Motion. R. at 143. On April 15, 2015, an Order Denying the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment was entered by the District Court. R. at 170-72.

### **Statement of Facts**

On November 10, 2013, Appellant Nate Dressel and Appellees entered in a "Utah Residential Lease Agreement" (the "Agreement") concerning 672 Meadow Crest Way, Saratoga Springs, Utah 84045 (the "Property"). R. at 9. Although the Agreement refers to Tenant(s) as "Nate Dressel/Jen McKellar," only Appellant Nate Dressel signed the Agreement. R. at 9, 18. On the same date, only Appellant Nate Dressel signed an "Addendum No. 1 to Utah Residential Lease Agreement", which provided a move-in date, utility contact information, information concerning furnished items, applicable laws,

repair information, landlord contact information, yard requirements, parking requirements, rent deposit information, and number of dogs allowed. R. at 18. The Agreement provides that tenants are to pay a monthly rent amount of \$1,350, beginning on December 1, 2013. R. at 9, ¶ 1.1. The Agreement required a “security deposit” in the amount of \$1,650, to be paid no later than November 13, 2013. R. at 9, ¶ 2.1. The Agreement states that “[i]f Tenant breaches any obligation under this Agreement Landlord has the right to retain the Security Deposit as liquidated damages.” R. at 10, ¶ 2.5 (bracket added). The term of the Agreement was from November 13, 2013 through November 30, 2014, essentially a year. R. at 10, ¶ 3. The Agreement states that if tenants vacate the Property prior to completing the entire term of the Agreement, tenants must pay “the greater of: (1) an early termination fee in the amount of three (3) months of rent; or (2) the actual costs and damages incurred by Landlord[.]” R. at 10, ¶ 3.3 (bracket added). Appellant Jen Dressel never signed the Agreement or Addendum and the parties were not married at the time Appellant Nate Dressel signed the Agreement. R. at 9-18; 137, ¶ 3.

On August 1, 2014, Appellants notified Appellees that Appellants were vacating the Property on the grounds of constructive eviction, effective August 1, 2014. R. at 119. Appellants’ August 1, 2014 letter also made a demand for the return of the security deposit, minus \$300 for pets, in the amount of \$1,350, which was to be mailed by check or money order to Nathan and Jennifer Dressel, 191 Moonlight Drive, Sequim, Washington 98382. R. at 119. Appellants’ August 1, 2014 letter never stated that

Appellants would be residing at the address given for the return of the security deposit, only that funds could be sent to that address. R. at 119-20.

On August 7, 2014, counsel for Appellees sent Appellants a letter stating that Appellants “breached the lease by unilaterally declaring the lease terminated and by failing to pay rent when due.” R. at 87. The letter also stated that, pursuant to 2.9 of the Agreement, Appellees were evoking their right to claim the security deposit as liquidated damages and that, pursuant to 3.3 of the Agreement, Appellants are entitled to \$4,050.00, or three times the normal rent, as an early termination fee. R. at 87. Further, the letter also stated that Appellees “will provide notice of any additional damages to the property for which you may [sic] deemed responsible.” R. at 87 (bracket added).

On August 8, 2014, Appellees signed a Warranty Deed on the Property, granting the Property to Jason and Brandi Snyder, effectively concluding the sale of the Property. R. at 85, 89. On August 12, 2014, 10:09 AM, the Warranty Deed conveying the Property was recorded by the Utah County Recorder. R. at 85.

On August 12, 2014, Appellant Nate Dressel entered into a “Lease Termination Agreement” (“Termination”) with the new owners of the Property, Jason and Brandi Snyder. R. 89-90. The Termination states that “WHEREAS, the Premises will be sold from Prior Landlord to Current Landlord, which includes the transfer of the Lease. The Current Landlord will be the new owner of the Premises.” R. at 89. The Termination further states that “[t]he Parties agree that in lieu of the original expiration date of the November 30, 2014, the Lease shall terminate immediately upon the close of the sale

transaction between the Prior Landlord and Current Landlord.” R. at 89, ¶ 1 (bracket added).

On August 27, 2014, Appellees caused to be filed with the District Court a Complaint seeking to recover \$4,050 for an early termination fee, alleging that Appellants “failed to pay rent for August” of 2014 and “have evidenced a clear intent to refuse to pay rent for the months of September, October, and November” of 2014. R. at 1-3, ¶¶ 12, 14. Appellees also alleged that Appellants caused damage to a dog kennel, valued at \$500, family heirlooms and art work removed from the walls, valued at \$2,000, bed coverings, sheets and other bedroom items, valued in excess of \$500, damage to the yard, grass and sprinkler system valued in excess of \$1,000, and “other items as may be discovered.” R. at 3-4, ¶ 16. Appellees allege Appellants owe at least \$1,500 pursuant to the Agreement for recovery of costs and attorney’s fees. R. at 6, ¶ 30. Appellees also allege that they “have been injured as a result of [Appellants’] breach, and have elected to retain [Appellants’] damage deposit as provided in the Lease Agreement.” R. at 5, ¶ 28 (bracket added). Appellees requested for an award from the District Court, to be proven at trial, for at least \$9,700, plus attorney’s fees and costs of at least \$1,500 but also to be determined at trial. R. at 6-7, ¶ A. Appellees’ Complaint states specifically the amounts of \$4,050 for unpaid rents, at least \$4,000 for damage to the property, and at least \$1,500 for attorney’s fees, which is a total of \$9,550, although Appellees requested for the Court to award at least \$9,700. R. 1-7.

On September 2, 2014, Appellees’ counsel requested change of address information concerning Appellants from the U.S. Postmaster in Saratoga Springs, Utah,

which the U.S. Postmaster replied on September 19, 2014 that Appellants forwarded their mailing address to 191 Moonlight Dr., Sequim, Washington 98382. R. at 123. Appellees' counsel obtained a "Comprehensive Report from Lexis-Nexis which also listed 191 Moonlight Drive as a possible current or prior address for one or both [Appellant]." R. at 100, ¶ 4 (bracket added). Further, Appellees' counsel, although unsupported by any documentation or a specific address, states that the National Guard indicated that Appellant Nate Dressel "was residing in Washington." R. at 100, ¶ 5.

On September 26, 2014, 12:08 PM, attempted service of the Summons and Complaint was made upon Peggy McKellar, mother of Appellant Jen Dressel, at Peggy McKellar's place of residence, 191 Moonlight Drive, Sequim Washington 98382, on behalf of both Appellants, by Mari Fahey, a process server in the State of Washington hired by Appellees. R. at 124, 127. The affidavit of Service for Appellant Nate Dressel states:

The undersigned, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and says: That s/he is now and at all times herein mentioned was a citizen of the United States, over the age of eighteen, not an officer of a plaintiff corporation, not a party to nor interested in the above entitled action, and is competent to be a witness therein.

On SEPTEMBER 26, 2014 at 12:08 pm, at the address of 191 MOONLIGHT DRIVE, SEQUIM 98382, within Clallam County, Washington, this affiant served the above described documents upon NATE DRESSEL by then and there personally delivering ONE true and correct copy thereof, by then presenting to and leaving the same with MRS. McKELLAR, MOTHER OF JEN DRESSEL aka JEN McKELLAR, a white female, age approximately 55-60 yrs, height approximately 5'4", weight approximately 120 lbs, with black hair, a person of suitable age and discretion then a resident therein.

R. at 127. The affidavit of Service of Summons and Complaint for Appellant Jen Dressel states the exact same wording as for Appellant Nate Dressel, except “NATE DRESSEL” is replaced with “JEN DRESSEL, aka JEN McKELLAR.” R. at 124.

Peggy McKellar “told the process server that neither Nate Dressel nor Jen Dressel resided at the address” and “refused to accept any papers from the process server.” R. at 98, ¶¶ 6-7. Peggy McKellar testified, through a declaration under penalty of perjury, that Appellant Jen Dressel is her daughter, Appellant Jen Dressel has not resided at Peggy McKellar’s residence since 2012, where the attempted service of the Complaint was made, and Appellant Nate Dressel as never resided at her address. R. 97-98, ¶¶ 2-5. Appellant Jen Dressel testified, through a declaration under penalty of perjury, that she had not lived at her mother’s address, Peggy McKellar, since 2012, her husband Nate Dressel has never lived at Peggy McKellar’s residence, and Appellants were living out of their motorhome in California at the time Peggy McKellar received attempted service of the Summons and Complaint. R. at 94-95, ¶¶ 3-5; 136, ¶ 2. Appellant Nate Dressel testified, through a declaration under penalty of perjury, that he has never resided at Peggy McKellar’s residence. R. at 91, ¶ 3. Appellants testified that they did not receive notice of the Complaint prior to the entering of the Default Judgment. R. at 91-92, ¶ 4; 95, ¶ 5.

On November 13, 2014, since no response or answer to the Complaint was filed with the District Court, the District Court entered a Default Judgment granting Appellees a total of \$13,005.70, which included a \$9,700 principal amount, \$485.20 for interest from August 7, 2014 through November 14, 2014, \$280 for Costs through November 4,

2014, and \$2,540.50 for attorney's fees through November 4, 2014. R. at 47-48. On December 5, 2014, the Appellees caused to be filed with the District Court a Notice of Entry of Judgment, which certified that the Notice of Entry of Judgment was mailed on November 5, 2014, to Appellants at 191 Moonlight Drive, Sequim, Washington 98382. R. at 59-60.

On or about December 16, 2014, Appellants received their first notice of Appellees' Complaint when they received the Notice of Entry of Judgment, which was certified by Appellees' counsel to have been sent on December 5, 2014 via U.S. Mail. R. at 91-92, ¶ 4; 95, ¶ 5.

On December 23, 2014, Appellants caused to be filed with the District Court a Motion and Memorandum in Support to Set Aside Default Judgment and Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) ("Motion"), including Declarations from Appellants and Peggy McKellar. R. at 70-98. In the Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and Dismiss Pursuant Rule 12(b)(6) ("Memorandum"), Appellants allege that Appellant Jen Dressel had not lived at the address used for service of the complaint since 2012, Appellant Nate Dressel never lived at the address used for service, Peggy McKellar told the process server that neither Appellant lived at her address, Peggy McKellar "refused to accept any papers from the process server," and Appellants were not aware of Appellees' Complaint until on or about December 16, 2014. R. at 73, ¶¶ 3-7. Also, Appellants alleged that Appellees sold the Property on or about August 8, 2014, which included all of Appellees' personal property. R. at 74, ¶¶ 9-10. Appellants alleged that they "did not damage or take the dog kennel, family heirlooms, art work, bed, sheets,

other bedroom items or any other personal or real property belonging to [Appellees],” did not damage the yard, grass, or sprinkler system of on the Property, Appellees’ “bed sheets were in a walk-in closet and never used”, and Appellees’ “heirlooms and art were stored in the basement and were in the basement when [Appellants] vacated the property.” R. at 74, ¶¶ 11-14. The Appellants further alleged that since the Property and personal property of Appellees were transferred to a third party upon the sale of the Property, Appellees do not have standing to seek damages. R. 74-75, ¶ 15. Also, Appellants alleged that due to the Termination Agreement, Appellants vacancy of the Property was proper and not a breach of the Agreement. R. at 75, ¶¶ 19-21. Finally, Appellants alleged that Appellees invoked their right to retain the security deposit as liquidated damages, which prevented Appellees from recovering for any allegations concerning a breach of the Agreement. R. at 75, ¶¶ 16-18. All of Appellant’s allegations in the Memorandum were supported by declarations. R. at 91-98.

On January 7, 2014, Appellees caused to be filed with the District Court a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) (“Opposition”), which provides states that “[Appellees] do not dispute the timeliness of this motion,” thus showing that the timeliness of Appellants’ Motion is undisputed. R. at 103 (brackets added).

On January 15, 2015, Appellants caused to be filed with the District Court their Reply to Appellees’ Opposition by stating that Appellees’ service of the Complaint was not in compliance with Utah R. Civ. P. 4. R. at 134. Further, Appellants reiterated their allegations denying damage to property and that since the Property had been sold, unpaid

rents for August, September, October, and November would only be proper to the new owners. R. at 134. Also, Appellants alleged that Appellant Jen Dressel did not sign the lease and is not liable for any alleged breach of the Agreement. R. at 134

On March 24, 2015, the District Court heard oral arguments on the Motion. R. at 195-220. Appellants argued that after vacating the Property, they did not know where they would be relocating, although they did not move to Sequim, Washington, and they did forward their mail to Peggy McKellar's residence. R. at 198, ¶¶ 1-9. Appellants also contested that there was not proper service of the Summons and Complaint, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 4. R. at 198, ¶¶ 10-16. Further, Appellants argue that since Peggy McKellar never accepted the Complaint from the process server, there was no documents to forward onto Appellants. R. at 208, ¶¶ 12-21. Appellants also argued that the first time they received notice of the Complaint was when they received the Notice of Entry of Judgment. R. at 198, ¶¶ 17-21. Appellants then argued that under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) "there was surprise, excusable neglect, inadvertence or mistake in not responding in time" and that they have meritorious defenses. R. at 199, ¶¶ 1-7. As for the meritorious defenses, Appellants argued that Appellees invoked their right to the liquidated damages by keeping the security deposit, which barred them from seeking to further recover for breach of the Agreement. R. at 199, ¶¶ 17-25. Another defense raised by Appellants was the fact that Appellees sold the Property, including Appellees' personal property, and lacked standing to seek recovery of rent for the months after the Property was sold, particularly when there was a Termination agreement with the new owners. R. at 200, ¶¶ 9-24. Finally, Appellants raised the meritorious defense that any

alleged damage to personal property is in dispute since Appellants provided declarations contesting the alleged damage. R. at 200, ¶¶ 4-8.

The District Court held that since Appellants provided an address where they expected to have their security deposit sent, which was the same forwarding address provided by the U.S. Postal Service, “[a]ll roads point to the fact that this 191 Moonlight Drive in Washington is their usual place of abode and that was where they expected to receive notifications regarding any mail that was received” and “[s]o I’m finding that there was effective service of process in this matter and it’s more likely that the [Appellants] were avoiding service in this matter. R. at 212, ¶¶ 7-24 (brackets added). As for Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1), the District Court stated:

With regard to the motion to set aside using mistake, surprise, excusable neglect, I don’t find that because normally those circumstances come up when a party obtains service and respondents then don’t respond for one reason or another. Usually some emergency. Maybe out of the country. Those kinds of things wherein that rule comes into play. Here, I don’t see how if you don’t respond you can get excusable neglect or mistake or anything like that, claiming you weren’t served. So I don’t think under those circumstances the motion to set aside is well taken. Based upon that then, I’m going to deny the motion to set aside default judgment. Therefore, we don’t get to the motion to dismiss because of that.

I recognize as well that default judgments are not really well liked by the courts. We want to hear issues. But in this case it’s clear to me that that was the address where they said they could be served. I don’t see anything that really refutes that at all. So that’s the ruling.

R. 213-14, ¶¶ 25, 1-16. The District Court never ruled on Appellants’ meritorious defenses or the need for an evidentiary hearing to determine damages. R. 95-220. Further, the District Court did not rule on Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to Utah R. Civ.

P. 12(b). R. 95-220. On April 15, 2015, an Order denying the Motion was entered by the District Court. R. at 170-72.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

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