2016

Val Copper and Richard Cooper, Plaintiffs/Appellees, vs. Nate Dressel and Jen Dressel, Defendants/Appellants : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1) The District Court Properly Determined that Service on the Dressels was Proper and Effective Under Rule 4.

The District Court correctly determined that service of the summons and complaint on the Dressels at 191 Moonlight Dr. was proper and effective under the totality of the circumstances. A review of the affidavits and facts before the District Court makes clear that the following facts were undisputed: 1) the Dressels affirmatively provided 191 Moonlight Dr. as the address to which the Coopers could provide notices with respect to the Lease; 2) the Dressels had their mail forwarded to 191 Moonlight Dr.; 3) the Summons was left with Ms. McKellar, the Dressels' close relative, at 191 Moonlight Dr.; 4) the Dressels provided no evidence or actual address of a location which could be determined to be their abode or dwelling place; and 5) the Dressels responded promptly to the Notice of Entry of Judgment that was mailed to 191 Moonlight Dr. Based on the totality of the circumstances, the District Court correctly concluded that "all roads" pointed to the fact that 191 Moonlight Dr. was the Dressels' usual place of abode for the purposes of service of the Summons and Complaint.

2) The Dressels Failed to Make Any Showing of Excuse, Surprise or Excusable Neglect Pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1).

The Dressels' affidavits and testimony is silent as to the elements required to set aside a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The entirety of the Dressels argument as to Rule 60(b)(1) was that service is invalid, and there is "clearly mistake, surprise or excusable neglect." However, as no facts were provided to the District Court from which the court could have concluded that such was the case, the District Court properly determined that the Dressels had failed to make the required showing under Rule 60(b)(1). Because there was no showing of mistake, surprise or excusable neglect, the District Court had no cause to review the Dressels' allegation of a meritorious defense to the Coopers' claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT SERVICE ON DRESSELS WAS PROPER AND EFFECTIVE UNDER RULE 4.

A. Service at 191 Moonlight Drive Was Appropriate and Effective Under the Totality of the Circumstances.

The clear and undisputed facts of this case demonstrate that service on the Dressels was proper and effective under Rule 4 and the case law defining Rule 4's requirement that a person be served at their "dwelling house or usual place of abode." *See Utah R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A)*. There is no dispute in this case that the Summons was left with Ms. McKellar at 191 Moonlight Dr., who is a person of suitable age and

discretion. The only question is whether 191 Moonlight Dr. was the Dressels' "usual place of abode" pursuant to Rule 4(d)(1).

"The determination of 'usual place of abode' is a mixed question of fact." *Reed v. Reed*, 806 P.2d 1182, 1184 (Utah 1991). The "district court's determination of whether, under the facts presented," the place of service "fits within the definition of the usual place of abode is a question of law." *Id.* As such, the determination of whether the place of service meets Rule 4's requirements is a legal conclusion, and is not a factual allegation that is properly made in a party's affidavit. That a party may state in his or her affidavit merely that the place is not the person's abode is of no consequence. Instead, it is for the district court to review the facts asserted in the affidavits to draw the legal conclusion that the place of service does or does not fit within the definition of "usual place of abode" for purposes of service of process.

As the Dressels' Brief concedes, the Dressels' bear the burden of showing that service was improper. *See Skanchy v. Calcados Ortope SA*, 952 P.2d 1071, 1074 (Utah 1998). The invalidity of service can be shown by clear and convincing evidence. *Carnes v. Carnes*, 668 P.2d 555, 557 (Utah 1983). To overcome this burden, a party seeking to set aside service is required to provide "competent evidence showing that service of process was not completed or was improper." *Zions First Nat. Bank v. Christensen*, 2000 UT App 76, 1, 2000 WL 33243623 (citing *Skanchy*, 952 P.2d at 1075).

As the parties' respective burdens on the issue of determination of "usual place of abode" and the legal basis for such determination are in place, the significant question is now what does "usual place of abode" mean under Utah law. The Utah Supreme Court

reviewed this issue in *Reed v. Reed*, 806 P.2d 1182 (Utah 1991). In that opinion, the Court reviewed jurisprudence from Utah and Federal law. The opinion makes clear that “no hard and fast rule can be fashioned to determine what is or is not a party’s ‘dwelling house or usual place of abode’ within the Rule’s meaning.” *Id.* at 1185. Rather, “*the practicalities of the particular fact situation determine whether service meets the requirements of 4(d)(1).*” *Id.* (emphasis added). Pertinent, and indeed, critical, to the determination of the ‘usual place of abode,’ is whether the place of service is best calculated to afford actual notice of the proceedings, which analysis “must be resolved by ‘what best serves to give notice to a defendant that he is being served with process, considering the situation from a practical standpoint.” *Id.* Additionally, Rule 4’s requirement of service at the usual place of abode must be “liberally construed and applied to achieve the just, speed, and inexpensive determination of every action.” Utah R. Civ. P. 1.

The entirety of the Dressels’ position appears to be that because they claimed in a declaration that they did not live at 191 Moonlight Dr., without providing any evidence to the contrary, they could not have been served there. In reality, the Dressels seem to argue that they could not have been served anywhere but personally, as they claim to have had no physical place of abode. In view of *Reed* and other Utah cases, the Dressels’ position is incorrect. A review of the facts of this case demonstrates that the District Court correctly concluded that the Dressels were served at their “usual place of abode,” considering the unique circumstances and practicalities of the case. The undisputed facts on the record and in the parties’ declarations are as follows:

1. The Dressels provided the Coopers with 191 Moonlight Dr. as the location which the Coopers were to use to provide communications with respect to the Lease.¹ R. at 119.
2. The Dressels instructed the U.S. Postmaster to direct all communications via mail to them at the 191 Moonlight Dr. address, thus indicating that *anyone* needing to send them something could do so to that address with the expectation that they would receive it. R. at 123.
3. Information in a trusted and widely used database to locate individuals indicated that 191 Moonlight Dr. was the Dressels' address. R. at 100.
4. The Dressels do not provide even the unsupported allegation, much less evidence, that they had another place of abode where service should have been effectuated. *See* R. at 91-96.
5. The Dressels received the Notice of Entry of Judgment that was mailed to the same address, and promptly acted on the same. R. at 91-95.

The facts of this case line up very well with the facts in the Utah Supreme Court's *Reed* opinion. In that opinion, the party seeking to set aside service: 1) had listed his home address as that of his parents; 2) had resided there at one point, 3) failed to show that he lived elsewhere, and 4) received actual notice of the proceedings. *Reed*, 806 P.2d at 1185. Based on these facts, the Supreme Court correctly concluded that the parent's address was the defendant's place of abode. In light of those facts, the court made the following statement, which is exactly applicable to the current case:

the likelihood of defendant appearing at the place of service in the near future, coupled with the absence of a permanent residence elsewhere, is sufficient to uphold service made at a residence maintained with a member of defendant's family even if defendant is seldom there.

¹ While the Coopers claim, and undoubtedly will argue in Reply, that the 191 Moonlight Dr. address was provided for the limited purpose of returning the Dressels' security deposit, that address must be construed as the location at which notices and information pursuant to the Lease, including a Complaint for breach, could be reliably delivered.

Id. at 1185.

The undisputed facts of this case are analogous to the *Reed* opinion. The Dressels provided Coopers with an address of a close relative to send any notice or information pertinent to the Lease, and indeed, by forwarding all mail to 191 Moonlight Dr., effectively told the entire world that 191 Moonlight Dr. was the location to which any important information could be delivered. That they did receive actual notice of important documents delivered to that address is made indisputably clear by the fact that they received and immediately responded to the Notice of Entry of Judgment mailed to that same address. Of equal significance is the fact that the Dressels have provided no other address or location that is their usual place of abode. Thus, the Dressels' position that they had no place of abode for service is overcome by the ruling of the *Reed* opinion. Obviously, the Dressels' argument cannot be correct under a fair reading of Rule 4's service requirements. Personal service on a party living without an address would be effectively impossible, and certainly impracticable and inefficient. A liberal and fair reading of Rule 4's service requirements cannot allow a person to become impossible to serve just because they choose to live in a motorhome without a permanent address.

Finally, while the Dressels provide the self-serving testimony that they did not receive actual notice of the Summons that was delivered to Jen Dressel's mother, they provide no evidence or testimony as to why they did not or could not have received actual notice by serving the Summons at 191 Moonlight Dr. The process server's affidavit attests that she left the Summons and Complaint with Ms. McKellar at 191 Moonlight Dr., which fact has never been disputed. R. at 124, 127. Ms. McKellar's declaration

does not state what she did with those documents, e.g., that she left them on the porch, threw them away, fed them to the dog, or otherwise did something making it impossible for the Dressels to receive them. R. at 97-98. Of no small consequence is the fact that, by appointing Ms. McKellar's address as the address to which the Coopers could send money, and the whole world could send mail, the Dressels obviously relied on and trusted Ms. McKellar to preserve any correspondence delivered to her and to provide such to the Dressels. Yet, there is no explanation as to why such did not occur, or could not have occurred, in this case. As the District Court noted, the Dressels asserted no testimony that they were out of the country, out of contact with Ms. McKellar, or in other circumstances that would have made it impossible for Ms. McKellar to notify them of the documents. R. at 213-14. The District Court is not required to give weight to self-serving testimony, particularly where it is not sustained by corroborating evidence; the District Court correctly disregarded such testimony by the Dressels here.

The situation here is exactly the situation addressed by the *Reed* opinion, and the same outcome should obtain here as well. The practicalities of the undisputed facts of this case demonstrate that service of the summons and complaint at the relative's house, which had been held out by the Dressels themselves as the location to which important information could be sent, was the location best served to give notice to the Dressels that they were being served with process. *See Reed*, 806 P.2d at 1185. Even if the Dressels were not there at the specific time that the service was delivered, every indication is that the Dressels would be appearing at or in contact with such place in the future. Service was sufficient there, even if, as in *Reed*, the Dressels may have seldom been there. *See*

id. The fact that the Dressels have provided no other location where they could or should have been served, and in fact seem to claim that there was no such location, demonstrates that, under the analysis of the totalities of the circumstances, service was proper and effective at 191 Moonlight Dr.

B. Additional Arguments as to Service Are Not Preserved for Appeal.

The Dressels assert four additional arguments against the effectiveness of service of process, which are not properly preserved for appeal. (See Appellants' Brief at I.B – I.D, pp. 22-25). “To preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must have been presented to the trial court in such as way that the court has an opportunity to rule on that issue. 438 *Main St. v. Easy Heat, Incl*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801. “For a trial court to be afforded an opportunity to correct the error, (1) the issue must be raised in a timely fashion, (2) the issue must be specifically raised, and (3) the challenging party must introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.” *Id.* “Issues that are not raised at trial are usually deemed waived.” *Id.*

All of the following issues could have, but undisputedly were not, raised before the District Court. The Dressels have not asserted that any of these issues could not have been raised, or that extraordinary circumstances exist which would have made it impossible or impractical for them to preserve the arguments. Accordingly, they should not be considered by this Court.

As will be briefly demonstrated below, however, those arguments are irrelevant to the determination of the issues on appeal, even if they had been raised and preserved.

1. AS THERE WAS NO DISPUTE OF FACT IN THE PARTIES' AFFIDAVITS REGARDING THE FACTS RELIED ON BY THE DISTRICT COURT, THERE WAS NO NEED TO HOLD AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

The Dressels' arguments that the District Court should have held an evidentiary hearing regarding service of process are misplaced. The facts before the court are relatively undisputed. As stated above, it was not disputed by the parties that: 1) the Dressels provided the Coopers with 191 Moonlight Dr. as the location to which notices under the Lease could be sent; 2) the Dressels forwarded their mail to 191 Moonlight Dr.; 3) the Dressels provided no address or evidence that another location was the Dressels' proper place of abode; 4) the Summons and Complaint were served to Ms. McKellar at 191 Moonlight Dr.; 5) the Dressels provided no testimony or evidence as to what Ms. McKellar did with the Summons and Complaint; and 6) the Dressels undisputedly received notices that were mailed to 191 Moonlight Dr.

Notably, the Dressels have failed to preserve this issue, as they did not request that the court hold an evidentiary hearing. Even if they had, the record is clear that the Dressels provided no affidavits refuting the facts asserted in the Coopers' declaration supporting their Opposition to the Rule 60(b) Motion, and that declaration focused solely on attesting to the facts pertaining to service and so forth. In reality, there is no dispute as to the facts alleged by the competing declarations. As *Reed* and other cases make clear, the District Court did not have to rely or assess credibility of the Coopers' uncorroborated statement that "they did not live" at 191 Moonlight Dr. in order to find that such was their usual place of abode and the best place to effectuate service under Rule 4. Rather, there was sufficient evidence provided by the Coopers, which was not refuted, from which the

District Court could have made the finding that it reached. Because of the lack of disputed facts, the District Court correctly stated that “in this case, it is clear to me that that was the address where they said they could be served. I don’t see anything that really refutes that at all.” R. at 214. As such, there was no need for an evidentiary hearing to hear the credibility of any of the parties on the issues set out in the parties’ affidavits and supporting documents.

2. AFFIDAVITS OF SERVICE ARE EFFECTIVE PURSUANT TO RULE 4(e).

As stated above, the Dressels did not include defective affidavits as a basis for their Rule 60 Motion, and in fact have never raised this issue prior to their Appellants’ Brief. As such, the Appellate Court need not review or consider this issue.

Although the Dressels’ argument at I.B., p. 22 of their Brief does not cite to Rule 4 for support, but cites only a 2006 case in arguing that the Coopers’ service affidavits are defective, the law relied upon appears to be outdated.² The case cited appears to be based on a prior version of Rule 4. The current version of Rule 4, effective at least as of May 1, 2014, states only that “[t]he proof of service must state the date, place, and manner of service.” Utah R. Civ. P. 4(e)(1). This version was in effect at the time the Summons was served on the Dressels in September of 2014. Additionally, the relevant version of Rule 4(e) provides that “[f]ailure to make proof of service does not affect the validity of

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